


in using some of the area to expand its work in testing and propagating
plants and in the animal disease activities of the Bureau of Animal In-
dustry. In his annual report, Secretary of Agriculture Jeremiah M. Rusk
recommended the transfer of about three hundred acres for this purpose.
On October 17, the Quartermaster General advised the Secretary of War
that if he wished, “all that part of the reservation {requested] may be given
to the Agricultural Department until needed for military or cemeterical
purposes. The squatters now on that tract will have to be gradually re-
moved, which may be done at any time by paying for their improve-
ments.” 2 On July 14, 1890, the President approved the appropriation of
$20,000 to move the work of the Bureau of Animal Industry from Benning
Road in the District to Arlington. But neither Rusk nor his successor, J.
Sterling Morton, were able to complete the arrangements for the transfer
of the eighty acres of Arlington land allowed in this legislation.?

When a new administration was inaugurated in 1897, an expansion of
scientific research seemed probable. The establishment of an outdoor
laboratory at Arlington was again proposed. James Wilson, the new Secre-
tary, found that legal authorities in the Justice and Treasury Departments
had determined that the funds appropriated in 1890 were no longer
available.*

At the request of Secretary Wilson, John Rixey, Congressman from
Virginia, introduced a bill, December 6, 1897, authorizing the transfer
of 500 acres of land from the Arlington estate for experimental work of
the Department of Agriculture. Subsequently, this was reduced to about
300 acres. The War Department hesitated to release the land, which it
planned eventually to use for the expansion of Arlington National Ceme-
tery. But the Committee on Military Affairs recommended favorable action.
It pointed out that:

“At present the premises in question have the appearance of an abandoned
estate, with neither buildings nor improvements thereon. The surface is much
gullied and cut up from rains and the flow of water in the small creek and
rivulets which cross the same and empty into the Potomac River.

The lands are so located as to be in full view of the city of Washington, and
present an unsightly appearance.” 5

No further action was taken in that session of Congress. However, on the
last day of that Congress, March 3, 1899, the Secretary of War was au-
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On April 20, Secretary Wilson, or “Tama Jim” as he was frequently
called, inspected the lands with his Superintendent of Gardens and
Grounds, who was to direct the work. Aware of the problems of making
the tract usable, the Secretary asked Congress to appropriate $20,000 for
this work.?

The work of preparing the land was slow at first. There were many
springs on the plot, large drainage ditches, and several large streams flow-
ing from the Arlington Cemetery. Some open ditches were tiled and filled
and large quantities of tile laid to drain the low land. Trees, briars, and
underbrush were cut and grubbed out and sod plowed under. Then cow-
peas, crimson clover, rye, and buckwheat were planted. Large quantities
of manure were obtained from nearby Fort Myer to enrich the soils. In
1912 alone, 2,195 wagonloads were spread. Lime and mineral fertilizers
were also applied. Areas not adapted to experimentation were seeded down
to provide pasture and forage for the animals used on the farm. Lawn
areas were enlarged each year and landscaped to show rural people what
could be done. Buildings, roads, and the necessary utilities were con-
structed.*®

It took roughly three years for laborers to get the land ready for the
scientists to use. Then much of the applied research could be carried out
conveniently across the Potomac River from the Departmental offices and
laboratories. While general administrative responsibility was assigned to the
Bureau of Plant Industry, other Bureaus conducted research in the fields,
laboratories, and greenhouses at the farm. Results of the projects were
published as bulletins on the problem investigated rather than as work
of the station.'*

The research was quite wide in scope. Scientists of the Bureau of Plant
Industry were studying tomato wilt and cereal and plant diseases; the
influence of the length of day on plant growth and maturity; corn breeding;
cold storage; fruit production and utilization; and hemp, forage crops,
drug plants, and various kinds of flowers and ornamental plants.

While many of the investigations of the other Bureaus were conducted
in special laboratory buildings or greenhouses, some were undertaken in
the fields of the farm. The Bureau of Chemistry and Soils was working
on increasing soil fertility and the recovery of phosphoric acid from low-
grade phosphate rock, on soil microbiology, on dust explosion prevention,
and with dye stuffs; the Forest Service was experimenting with willow and
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able permit, asked permission to extend its runways; and such groups as
the Boy Scouts used and wanted parts of the farm for camping purposes.
Reading the handwriting on the wall, the Department drew up plans to
move its projects to the Beltsville, Maryland area. By 1932, the Bureau
of Plant Industry was shifting its horticultural work there. Other Bureaus
made similar plans, but the Department did not see its way clear to release
the entire Arlington tract.}”

The Bureau of Public Roads moved its work to the Abingdon Research
Station, Virginia, near Alexandria, in 1938. The Department of Agricul-
ture was anticipating its requirements for other bureaus and locating land
for purchase in the Beltsville area. The War Department cooperated with
the Department of Agriculture as it undertook the tremendous move. But
the War Department had to contend with the National Capital Park and
Planning Commission that had plans for a memorial parkway along the
river connecting with the new Memorial Bridge.

On November 29, 1940, Congress directed the removal of all Depart-
ment of Agriculture activities from the Arlington tract and its retransfer
to the War Department for military use in its National Defense Program.
Before a year had passed, some barracks had been built and troops moved
in, even though Agriculture was still moving out.

On January 30, 1942, Claude Wickard formally notified the Secretary
of War that the Department’s activities had all been removed and the
“jurisdiction and control of the site formerly known as Arlington Farm
is now with the Secretary of War.” Subsequently, it was reported that the
entire relocation, including land purchase and building construction, had
cost the Government $3,200,000, an amazingly low amount in terms of
today’s prices.
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